NOV 1 7 2016

COURT OF APPEALS DIVISION III STATE OF WASHINGTON By

# No. 93864.4

# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

No. 331148

# IN THE COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION III OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

RICK A. HOLMAN, individually and on behalf of WOLF CREEK HOLDINGS OF SPOKANE, LLC, a Washington Limited Liability Company,

Respondent,

V.

BRIAN W. BRADY and MOUNTAIN BROADCASTING, LLC, a Washington Limited Liability Company,

Petitioners.

#### PETITION FOR REVIEW

Bryce J. Wilcox, WSBA No. 21728 LEE & HAYES, PLLC 601 W. Riverside Avenue, Suite 1400 Spokane, WA 99201 Phone: (509) 324-9256

Attorneys for Petitioners

###

#### I. INTRODUCTION

Rick Holman and Brian Brady co-own Wolf Creek Holdings, LLC ("Wolf Creek"), which owns a building leased to a television station in Spokane. The television station is owned by Mountain Broadcasting, LLC ("Mountain"), a company controlled by Brady. Mountain notified Wolf Creek that it would not be renewing the lease by letter to Brady dated September 21, 2012 ("Non-Renewal Notice"). Mountain then negotiated a new lease with Wolf Creek ("New Lease"). Holman has never claimed the terms of the New Lease were unfair to Wolf Creek.

Holman individually, and derivatively on behalf of Wolf Creek, brought this lawsuit against both Brady and Mountain, claiming the Non-Renewal Notice was ineffective and all members of Wolf Creek had to consent to the New Lease. The trial court ruled in favor of Holman on both issues. The Court of Appeals reversed in part and affirmed in part, holding the Non-Renewal Notice was effective but both Brady and Holman had to consent to all Wolf Creek decisions, including the New Lease. The Court of Appeals also affirmed the trial court's attorney fee award and awarded fees on appeal. Three rulings made by Division III raise issues of substantial public interest and contravene decisions of this Court, warranting review under RAP 13.4(b)(1) and RAP 13.4(b)(4).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The Court of Appeals did so even though it reversed on the only claim before it that contained a fee-shifting provision (Count 1). Instead, it appears to have relied upon Holman's holdover rent claim (Count 2) to justify an attorney fee award. Count 2 was not resolved by the trial court and was not before the Court of Appeals. Appx. A at 33.

First, the Court of Appeals' holding that CR 23.1 does not apply to derivative claims asserted on behalf of limited liability companies presents an issue of substantial public interest warranting Supreme Court review. The Court of Appeals' misapplication of CR 23.1 authorizes future prosecutions of limited liability company derivative claims without regard to CR 23.1's pleading safeguards, including those that ensure derivative actions are not asserted collusively to confer jurisdiction on the court.

Second, the Court of Appeals misapplied this Court's wellestablished rules of contract construction and in so doing effectively
rewrote the parties' contract in a fashion that rendered numerous
substantive provisions superfluous and produced an unreasonable result.

The sanctity of the parties' contract cannot be judicially encroached upon,
even if a court believes a different contractual arrangement is "more
reasonable," as the Court of Appeals held.<sup>2</sup> Predictability in commerce is a
cornerstone of a sound economic system and requires court enforcement
of contracts as written by the parties. The public has a substantial interest
in ensuring this occurs.

Finally, the Court of Appeals ruled on a claim (Count 2) that was not ruled upon by the trial court, nor raised by either party on appeal, in direct contravention of this Court's holding in *Clark County v. Western Washington Growth Management Hearings Review Board*, 177 Wash. 2d 136, 139, 298 P.3d 704, 706 (2013). This is significant because Count 2 is

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Opinion at page 26.

the only claim that supported the Court of Appeals' affirmation of the attorney-fee award below and its award of attorney fees on appeal.

#### II. PETITIONERS' IDENTITY

Mountain and Brady are the Petitioner herein. Mountain and Brady were the defendants at the trial court level and the appellants on appeal to Division III of the Washington State Court of Appeals.

# III. CITATION TO APPELLATE DECISION TO BE REVIEWED

Pursuant to RAP 13.4, Mountain and Brady seek review of the opinion of the Court of Appeals, Division III, filed on September 13, 2016, in this captioned case ("Opinion"). A copy of the Opinion is provided in Appendix A. Brady and Mountain filed a Motion for Reconsideration with the Court of Appeals, Division III, which was denied on October 18, 2016. A copy of the order denying the Motion for Reconsideration is provided in Appendix B.

#### IV. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- A. Whether CR 23.1 applies to derivative actions filed on behalf of limited liability companies.
- B. Whether the Court of Appeals failed to adhere to this Court's rules of contract construction in requiring unanimous member consent for all Wolf Creek decisions, to the extent its construction rendered substantial portions of the Wolf Creek LLC Agreement superfluous, amounted to a judicial rewriting of the LLC Agreement, and created an unreasonable operational structure.
- C. Whether the Court of Appeals erred in affirming Holman's award of attorney fees below and granting attorney fees on appeal, based on a claim that was not resolved by the trial court and was not

before the Court of Appeals, in contravention of this Court's holding in *Clark County v. Western Washington Growth Management Hearings Review Board*, 177 Wash. 2d 136, 139, 298 P.3d 704, 706 (2013).

#### V. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Holman and Brady each own a 50%-member interest in Wolf Creek.<sup>3</sup> Wolf Creek owns a building in Spokane, which it leases to Mountain, owner of Spokane's KAYU-TV.<sup>4</sup> Mountain is owned and controlled by Brady.<sup>5</sup>

The initial term of the lease between Wolf Creek and Mountain was 15 years, commencing January 12, 1998.<sup>6</sup> The original lease ("1998 Lease") was to be automatically extended for successive 5-year terms "unless Tenant shall give notice to the Landlord at least ninety (90) days prior to the Extension Date that the Tenant elects that the term of this Lease not be extended."

As a consequence of automatic lease rate increases, by September 2012, Mountain was paying \$23.52/square foot on a triple net basis, and the lease rate was scheduled to increase to \$24.35/square foot if the 1998 Lease was extended in 2013.8 Based on Mountain's market survey in

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> CP 5-66 (Complaint at ¶¶ 1.2, 1.3, and 3.2).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> *Id.* (Complaint at ¶¶ 3.5 and 3.6).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> *Id.* (Complaint at ¶¶ 3.6 and 3.7).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> CP 187 (1998 Lease, Article II).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> *Id.* 

<sup>8</sup> CP 178.

2012, the market for similar property was a fraction of this price. Had Mountain elected to renew the 1998 Lease in 2013, the lease rate would have been about 300% above market. Not surprisingly, Mountain was not interested in extending the lease at this rate.

To prevent automatic renewal of the 1998 Lease, Mountain needed to give written notice of its intent not to extend the lease at least 90 days before the 15th anniversary of the Lease, which was on or before October 12, 2012. On September 20, 2012, Mountain sent Wolf Creek the Non-Renewal Notice via overnight delivery.

After the 1998 Lease expired, Mountain and Wolf Creek entered a negotiated 3-year New Lease at \$14/sq. ft., which was more than 150% of the average market rate of approximately \$8.30/sq. ft. 12 Holman has never claimed the terms of the New Lease are unfair. Rather, wanting to preserve the above-market lease rate under the 1998 Lease, Holman claimed his consent was required on behalf of Wolf Creek to enter the New Lease.

In February 2013, Holman, both individually and derivatively on behalf of Wolf Creek, brought this lawsuit against Brady and Mountain. In five causes of actions, <sup>13</sup> Holman claimed the Non-Renewal Notice and

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> *Id*.

<sup>10</sup> Id., CP 178.

<sup>11</sup> CP 227.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup> CP 124 and 127.

<sup>13</sup> CP 5-66.

New Lease were invalid. Brady and Mountain moved to dismiss the Complaint based on lack of personal jurisdiction over Brady (a resident of Michigan), Holman's failure to comply with the rules governing derivative claims (CR 23.1) and Holman's improper joinder of personal and derivative claims.<sup>14</sup> The trial court denied this motion.<sup>15</sup>

Brady and Mountain then filed a summary judgment motion, seeking to dismiss Holman's Complaint based on undisputed evidence that the Non-Renewal Notice was effective and Brady was authorized to enter the New Lease. <sup>16</sup> Holman filed a cross-motion for partial summary judgment, arguing the Non-Renewal Notice was ineffective in preventing the 1998 Lease from automatically renewing, and that Brady lacked authority to enter the New Lease. <sup>17</sup> No evidence was offered that the New Lease was below market or otherwise unfair to Wolf Creek. The trial court denied Brady's motion and granted Holman's, holding that Mountain breached the 1998 Lease "for the failure to give timely notice to Wolf Creek by certified or registered mail of its intent not to renew the Lease Agreement, and because notice was not sent to the Landlord" (Count 1) and that Brady breached the LLC Agreement (Count 3) by "unilaterally accepting a deficient notice of non-renewal of Lease Agreement from

<sup>14</sup> CP 79-89.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>15</sup> CP 153-155.

<sup>16</sup> CP 292-308.

<sup>17</sup> CP 311-336.

Mountain, and by entering into a new Lease Agreement with Mountain without disclosing the Lease Agreement terms to Mr. Holman and without obtaining his consent." The trial court entered judgment against Mountain in favor of Holman and Wolf Creek on his claim for attorney fees, costs, and interest on Count 1,19 and Brady and Mountain appealed. 20

On September 13, 2016, the Court of Appeals reversed on Count 1, finding that the 1998 Lease was not renewed and affirmed on Count 3, holding that unanimous consent from all Wolf Creek members was required for all Wolf Creek decisions, including entering the New Lease. The Court of Appeals denied Brady and Mountain's Motion to Reconsider on October 18, 2016.

#### VI. ARGUMENT

A. The Court of Appeals' Misapplication of CR 23.1 Contravenes Issues of Substantial Public Interest and Conflicts with This Court's Rules of Construction.

Whether CR 23.1's pleading requirements apply to derivative claims brought on behalf of a limited liability company presents an issue of substantial public interest warranting Supreme Court review. The Court of Appeals' misapplication of CR 23.1 permits future prosecution of limited liability company derivative claims without regard to CR 23.1's

<sup>18</sup> CP 370-372.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>19</sup> While the 1998 Lease contained a fee-shifting provision, the Wolf Creek LLC Agreement did not, so no attorney fees were sought or awarded under Count 3.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>20</sup> CP 385-387.

pleading safeguards, including those that ensure derivative actions are not asserted collusively to confer jurisdiction.<sup>21</sup>

CR 23.1 specifically applies to "unincorporated associations." In 1996, as part of a broad revision to the 1994 legislation creating limited liability companies, the Legislature amended RCW 1.16.080 to include limited liability companies within the statutory definition of unincorporated associations.<sup>22</sup> To exempt LLC's from CR 23.1 would be to disregard the Legislature's definition of "unincorporated associations." Notably, when the Court amended CR 23.1 in 2015, there was no effort to exclude limited liability company derivative actions from CR 23.1's pleading requirements.

The differences between CR 23.1 and the derivative statute upon which Holman relied (RCW 25.15.370-385<sup>23</sup>) are significant. Unlike RCW 25.15, CR 23.1 required Holman to attest that his derivative claims were not brought in a collusive fashion to confer jurisdiction on the court. CR 23.1 also required Holman to articulate how he could fairly and adequately represent the interests of the other LLC member (Brady) in enforcing

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>21</sup> CR 23.1 imposes four requirements upon a party who wishes to bring a derivative action, all of which must be alleged in a verified complaint: (1) the claimant must be a member at the time of the complained of transaction, (2) the action must not simply be collusive in order to confer jurisdiction on the court, (3) the complaint must allege what attempts the claimant made to have the company bring the suit, and (4) the claimant bringing suit must fairly and adequately represent the interests of the other members. *Gustafson v. Gustafson*, 47 Wn. App. 272, 276-77, 734 P.2d 949 (1987).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>22</sup> Opinion at page 8 - 10 (citations omitted).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>23</sup> Legislation enacted in 2015 repealed and replaced RCW 25.15 effective January 1, 2016. *See* RCW 25.15.386 and RCW 25.15.396.

Wolf Creek's rights. Although Holman admittedly did not comply with CR 23.1, the Court of Appeals held the rule does not apply to limited liability companies and permitted his derivative claim.

Because a procedural conflict exists between CR 23.1 and RCW 25.15, the court rule governs. "If a statute appears to conflict with a court rule, this court will first attempt to harmonize them and give effect to both, but if they cannot be harmonized, the court rule will prevail in procedural matters and the statute will prevail in substantive matters." *City of Fircrest v. Jensen*, 158 Wn.2d 384, 393–94, 143 P.3d 776 (2006), *cert. denied*, 549 U.S. 1254 (2007). Applying this rule of construction, the procedural aspects of CR 23.1 must be read to govern limited liability company derivative claims.

There is no reason to apply a lower derivative pleading standard to limited liability companies than corporations. The rationale for requiring verification under CR 23.1 that a derivative action is not brought in a collusive fashion to confer jurisdiction, and that the claimant can fairly and adequately represent the interest of the other members, is equally applicable to both corporate forms, and the Court should accept review to clarify this.

B. The Court of Appeals' Ruling That All Wolf Creek Members
Must Agree on All Decisions Amounted to a Judicial Rewriting of
the Parties' Contract, Rendering Numerous Provisions
Superfluous.

This Court has consistently affirmed the sanctity contracts. Little

Mountain Estates Tenants Ass'n v. Little Mountain Estates MHC LLC, 169 Wash. 2d 265, 269, 236 P.3d 193, 195 (2010). Because of the right to contract, "[c]ourts do not have the power, under the guise of interpretation. to rewrite contracts which the parties have deliberately made for themselves." Clements v. Olsen, 46 Wash.2d 445, 448, 282 P.2d 266 (1955). Nor can courts construe a contract to produce an absurd or unreasonable result or in a manner that renders a portion of the contract superfluous. Truck Ins. Exch. v. Rohde, 49 Wash. 2d 465, 474, 303 P.2d 659, 664 (1956); Eurick v. Pemco Ins. Co., 108 Wash.2d 338, 341, 738 P.2d 251 (1987) (courts "avoid a strained or forced construction of contract provisions and avoid interpretations leading to absurd results.") Colorado Structures, Inc. v. Ins. Co. of the W., 161 Wash.2d 577, 588, 167 P.3d 1125 (2007) (courts construe contracts as a whole to effectuate all the contract's provisions, so as not to render words superfluous). It is the court's duty to read each contract in such a manner that every section is given effect. Wagner v. Wagner, 95 Wash.2d 94, 101, 621 P.2d 1279 (1980). The Court of Appeals misapplied these rules of construction in ruling that Brady lacked authority under the Wolf Creek Agreement to enter the New Lease.

Rather than run by a manager, Holman and Brady agreed to a member-managed structure for Wolf Creek. Article V, section 2, of the Wolf Creek LLC Agreement describes the broad authority of members: "all members of the Company shall have the authority to obligate or bind

the Company in connection with any matter."<sup>24</sup> This authority is expressly extended to executing leases per Article XIII, section 1, which confirms that "any member ... shall have the power to execute and deliver proxies, stock powers, deeds, leases, contracts ..... for and in the name of the Company....<sup>25</sup> The LLC Agreement tracks Washington's statute governing limited liability companies. RCW 25.15.151(2) provides that "if the limited liability company is member-managed, each member is an agent of the limited liability company and has the authority to bind the limited liability company with regard to matters in the ordinary course of its activities."

Under this structure, Holman and Brady were each empowered with authority to act on behalf of and bind Wolf Creek. The Court of Appeals' ruling that all members, acting collectively, must reach agreement to execute managerial decisions is directly and irreconcilably at odds with other provisions of the LLC Agreement and renders numerous sections of the LLC Agreement superfluous. <sup>26</sup> In contrast, no provision of the LLC Agreement is rendered superfluous under Petitioner's construction. This Court should accept review to correct the Court of Appeals' misapplication of this Court's rules of contract construction.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>24</sup> CP 235 (Article V, Section 2, Wolf Creek, LLC Agreement).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>25</sup> CP 248 (Article XIII, Section 1, Wolf Creek, LLC Agreement) (emphasis added).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>26</sup> It would also be impractical, which is why the parties did not insist on agreement by all members as a condition of the LLC being enabled to do business.

# 1. The Court of Appeals' ruling renders Article VI, Section 1(b) superfluous.

Article VI, section 1(b), states interested member transactions are valid if "the contract or transaction is fair as to the Company as of the time it is authorized, approved or ratified by the members or the committee thereof" or where the transaction is approved, following disclosure of a member's interest, by a majority of disinterested members.<sup>27</sup> Article VI is not a common provision in LLC agreements and was negotiated specifically by Brady and Holman to address the precise situation at issue here. Under Article VI, both Holman and Brady expressly agreed to a unique decision-making framework that permitted interested-member transactions involving one member, such as the New Lease, so long as the transaction was fair to Wolf Creek.

Division III found that "Article VI does not supplant the general management provision at Article V. Rather, it identifies *additional* approval requirements that apply solely to Interested Member transactions." Petitioners agree. However, Article VI is afforded meaning *only* in a circumstance where one member, acting without the unanimous consent of all other members, enters into an Interested Member transaction. The "additional approval requirements" under Article VI would be wholly unnecessary if all members must agree on all management decisions. Construing Article V to require unanimous

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>27</sup> CP 20-21.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>28</sup> Opinion at page 31 (emphasis in original).

member consent to every company transaction renders the "additional approval" component of Article VI superfluous, as such additional approval would never be necessary. Review should be accepted to correct this erroneous construction.

# 2. The Court of Appeals' ruling renders Article IV, Section 2(b), superfluous.

Article IV, section 2(b), sets forth five types of LLC action requiring approval of both Holman and Brady. This section requires majority approval (which is unanimous approval, in a two-member LLC) to (1) amend the LLC Agreement; (2) authorize action changing the purpose of the company; (3) require additional capital from members; (4) reduce or limit member contribution obligations; or (5) issue new membership interests. Construing the LLC Agreement to require "all members" to agree on every decision renders Article IV meaningless. There would be no need to include Article IV, section 2(b), *if* the members intended that *all* decisions required unanimous member consent.

Article V defines the scope of member authority. Article IV (voting) illustrates that when Holman and Brady intended to require *unanimous* consent for action, they did so clearly and unambiguously. On this point, the distinction between management and ownership action is of no consequence. Article V provides "all members" authority to bind the LLC on "any matter," with no limitation expressed as to ownership or management matters. Article IV limits that broad authority concerning specific, enumerated topics where unanimous consent is required (in a

two-person LLC) or majority approval if more members are added.

Construing Article V to require unanimous consent on "any matter"

renders Article IV superfluous in its entirety. In line with this Court's rules of contract construction, Petitioners' view harmonizes Articles IV and V.

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