RECEIVED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON CLERK'S OFFICE

Dec 19, 2016, 2:03 pm

RECEIVED ELECTRONICALLY

Supreme Court No. 93864-4

Court of Appeals No. 331148

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

RICK A. HOLMAN, individually, and on behalf of WOLF CREEK HOLDINGS OF SPOKANE LLC, a Washington Limited Liability Company,

Respondent,

VS.

BRIAN W. BRADY and MOUNTAIN BROADCASTING, LLC, a Washington Limited Liability Company,

Petitioners.

RESPONDENT'S ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

KEVIN J. CURTIS, WSBA No. 12085 KAMMI MENCKE SMITH, WSBA No. 34911 WINSTON & CASHATT, LAWYERS 601 W. Riverside, Ste. 1900 Spokane, WA 99201 Telephone: (509) 838-6131 Attorneys for Respondent

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

V. ARGUMENT

A. The Court of Appeals' Decision That CR 23.1 Does Not Apply To LLC Derivative Actions Was Correct And Does Not Conflict With A Decision Of This Court Or Present An Issue Of Substantial Public Interest.

At the outset, Brady moved to dismiss the claims against him for lack of personal jurisdiction. (CP 79-92) Brady and Mountain also moved to dismiss the Complaint arguing that Holman had failed to comply with the pleading requirements applicable to corporate and unincorporated association derivative actions set out in CR 23.1. He also asserted that dismissal was appropriate because the Wolf Creek's derivative claims were combined with Holman's individual claims. (CP 79-89) The trial court denied these motions. (CP 153-155)

Brady did not appeal the trial court's personal jurisdiction ruling. The Court of Appeals rejected Brady's argument that Holman had inappropriately joined personal and derivative claims. (Opinion at 12-15) Petitioners have abandoned their improper joinder argument such that the only remnant of their original Motion to Dismiss is their argument that CR 23.1 applies to LLC derivative claims.

1. The Court of Appeals' decision does not conflict with a prior decision of this Court.

The Court of Appeals correctly held that CR 23.1 applies only to actions brought "to enforce a right of a corporation or of an

unincorporated association" and by definition, that does **not** include LLC's. (Opinion at 10) The only Supreme Court case cited by Petitioners allegedly at odds with the Court of Appeals' opinion is City of Fircrest v.

Jensen, 158 Wn.2d 384, 393-94, 143 P.3d 776 (2006), cert denied, 549

U.S. 1254 (2007). Fircrest is apparently cited for the proposition that **if**Court Rules and statutory provisions conflict, they should be harmonized and both given effect if possible. The Court of Appeals was faithful to this rule of contractual interpretation engaging in an extensive analysis of the origins of both CR 23.1 and RCW 25.15.380 to conclude that when no conflict exits: "the plain language of a court rule does not require construction." (Opinion at 7-12) citing, State v. Punsalan, 156 Wn.2d 875, 879, 133 P.3d 934 (2006). Thus, for purposes of RAP 13.4(b)(1), there is no conflict that would justify accepting review of this issue.

2. There is no substantial public interest that will be served by review of the Court of Appeals' Opinion.

The only public interest Petitioners advance is that future LLC derivative actions may be commenced without the protections afforded by CR 23.1. However, former RCW 25.15.380 which set forth the pleading requirements in LLC derivative actions at the time this action was filed has been repealed. Laws of 2015, ch. 188 §108. Although its replacement statute, (RCW 25.15.396), is similar, it is clear that going forward, there is

little or no likelihood that another case will arise that involves former RCW 25.15.380. Indeed, in the 21 years that RCW 25.15.380 was in effect, there has been **no** published opinion addressing the application of CR 23.1 to LLC derivative claims. If the Court deems it appropriate to "clarify" CR 23.1's relationship, if any, to LLC derivative actions, there is no urgency or public interest in doing so based upon a repealed statute.

In addition, the practicalities of accepting review should not be overlooked. It is undisputed that Respondent complied with the pleading requirements of former RCW 25.15.380 governing LLC derivative claims. While expressly holding that CR 23.1 did not apply, the trial court nonetheless considered each of the additional requirements that would be imposed by CR 23.1 and found them either unnecessary or satisfied under the facts presented. The trial judge stated a legitimate issue was raised by the Complaint; she presumed Holman would verify it; and she refused to require Respondent to engage in this meaningless formality. (6/28/2013 RP 18, 29-30) See generally, RCL N.W., Inc. v. Colorado Res., Inc., 72 Wn.App. 265, 271, 864 P.2d 12 (1993) (verification under CR 23.1 developed out of the desire to avoid baseless claims.)

The trial court also held that personal jurisdiction over Brady was appropriate independent of the derivative nature of the lawsuit. (12/05/2014 RP 25) Brady did not appeal the trial court's personal

jurisdiction ruling. It has been waived. Milligan v. Thompson, 110 Wn.App. 628, 635, 42 P.3d 418 (2002). Finally, Brady's argument that Holman has not demonstrated how he could fairly and adequately represent Brady misconstrues the requirements of CR 23.1 (see, Halsted Video, Inc. v. Guttillo, 115 F.R.D. 177 (N.D. Ill. 1987) (inquiry focuses on whether the plaintiff can represent the other non-defendant "similarly situated" members). In any event, the trial court specifically found that both Holman's and Brady's goals as members of Wolf Creek were to maximize the LLC's profits. (12/05/2014 RP 26-28)

Even if CR 23.1 were applied to this case, remanding to the trial court to require amendment of the Complaint to allege matters upon which the trial court has already ruled, smacks of the same "mere formalism" that the court in <u>RCL N.W.</u> and the Civil Rules counsel against. <u>Id.</u> at 271, CR 1 ("These rules... shall be construed and administered to secure the just, speedy, and inexpensive determination of every action.").

B. The Court of Appeals' Ruling That Brady Lacked Authority
To Unilaterally Bind Wolf Creek To A New Lease Does Not
Conflict With A Decision Of This Court Or Present An Issue
Of Substantial Public Interest.

The Court of Appeals applied well established rules of contract interpretation in reaching the correct conclusion that the LLC Agreement required both members to bind Wolf Creek to a new lease agreement. Far

from demonstrating how the Court of Appeals' decision is at odds with other decisions of this Court as required by RAP 13.4(b)(1), Petitioners simply present their same, flawed interpretation of the LLC Agreement and equate that with a conflict. To accept their position as a basis for discretionary review would open the floodgates to discretionary review in all cases involving contract interpretation and undermine the "certainty of contracts" that Petitioners claim their request for review would advance.

1. The Court of Appeals' decision is not contrary to any prior decision of this Court.

The starting point for the Court of Appeals' interpretation of the LLC Agreement was former RCW 25.15.150(1) which the Court observed allowed members to contractually define the management rights and duties of any member or group of members. (Opinion at 25) The Court of Appeals correctly found that the parties had done just that in Article V, Section 2 of the LLC Agreement which provides:

ARTICLE V Management

Section 2. Authority of members to bind company. All members of the Company shall have the authority to obligate or bind the Company in connection with any matter.

(CP 369) Petitioners urged reading the term "all" to mean "each". Both the trial court and the Court of Appeals rejected this reading and held that the term "all" should be given its plain and ordinary meaning namely, "the entire or total number of members". (Opinion at 26) (citations omitted) This holding is entirely consistent with this Court's established precedent that words used in contracts be given their ordinary meaning whenever possible. See, Storti v. University of Washington, 181 Wn.2d 28, 39, 330 P.3d 159 (2014).

Mindful of its obligation to examine all of the contract provisions, the Court of Appeals also considered Petitioners' argument that the authority of any member to bind the company was evidenced by Article XIII ("General Provisions"), Section 1 ("Execution of Documents") which provides that "[a]ny member...shall have the power to execute and deliver...leases...for and in the name of the Company." (CP 542) The Court of Appeals found the authority to execute an agreement is not equivalent to the authority to approve it. (Opinion at 29) (citation omitted). The Court of Appeals also found that use of the term "all members" in the management clause and "any member" in the execution clause implied that the parties intended different meanings. (Opinion at 26) This too is in accord with well established rules of contractual interpretation. (Id.)

Petitioners' remaining attempts to coax ambiguity out of the plain language of the LLC Agreement rest on its arguments that Respondent's

interpretation of the Agreement render other clauses of the Agreement superfluous. They are incorrect.

2. Article VI (Interested Members), Section 1(b).

According to Petitioners, Article VI, Section 1 of the LLC Agreement allows Brady to unilaterally engage in a related party transaction provided it is fair and thus, if unanimous consent were required to bind the LLC, this provision would not be necessary. This argument rests on Petitioners' flawed interpretation of this provision. The Court of Appeals correctly noted this provision adds an additional approval requirement to interested party transactions. (Opinion at 29-31) Thus, if Brady had obtained Holman's consent to this transaction after full disclosure, it could have been upheld under Article VI, Section 1(a). If the transaction was approved without full disclosure, it could also have been upheld if it was fair. Of course, there was no approval by Holman of this transaction and thus, Article VI, Section 1(b) was never satisfied.

² Petitioners' bald assertion that this provision was "negotiated specifically by Brady and Holman to address the precise situation at issue here" is wholly unsupported by the record. No evidence of any such "negotiation" exists. Indeed, if Brady believed that he had unilateral authority to enter into a new lease or adjust the existing lease at any time, one has to wonder why he did not do it sooner in response to Rand's previous requests.

3. Article IV (Voting), Section 2(b).

Next, Petitioners argue that Article IV, Section 2(b) providing for majority vote to deal with certain ownership issues would be wholly unnecessary if all decisions already required unanimous consent by virtue of Article V, Section 2. This argument rests entirely on Petitioners' mischaracterization of the Court of Appeals' holding as being that "unanimous member consent was required for all decisions." What the Court of Appeals did hold was that the authority to **obligate** the LLC is a management matter dealt with in Article V. (Opinion at 27-28) In contrast, Article IV, Section 2(b) relates to "ownership" matters and is not at issue when a member binds the LLC to a lease. (Id. at 28) Petitioners offer no cogent reason for disregarding this management/ownership distinction.

4. Article V (Management), Section 1.

Contrary to Petitioners' argument, Article V, Section 1 is not superfluous to Section 2 as interpreted. The management provisions in the LLC Agreement provide two things: no member has the "continuing exclusive authority to make independent management decisions" (Section 1); and "all members shall have the authority to obligate or bind the Company" in relation to transactions with others. (Section 2) These are neither redundant to one another, nor superfluous when read together.

As the Court of Appeals correctly held, Section 1 deals with operation and management decisions generally while Section 2 is a more specific clause dealing with authority to bind the company. (Opinion at 25)

5. Article III (Members).

Petitioners' final attempt to create redundancy focuses on "portions" of Article III and in particular Section 5 of that Article. Although this argument was not raised at either the trial court or the Court of Appeals, it can be easily disposed of here. It is clear from reading the entirety of Article III that it is a corporate governance section unrelated to obligating the company to a lease agreement. Further, it is clear from even a cursory review of Article III that the LLC Agreement was never written to limit the LLC to two members. Section 10 for example contemplated that new members could be added. Section 3 addresses special meetings when there are less than 3 members and Section 12 addresses removal of members when there are more than 3.

In this context, it makes complete sense to say that the majority vote controls. However, Section 5 also says the majority vote controls unless "the question is one upon which by express provision...of this LLC Agreement, a different vote is required." Of course, Article V, Section 2 requiring "all members" to consent is just such a provision.

6. Non-Superfluous Interpretation.

Petitioners argue that Article XIII, Section 1 provided Brady the authority to bind the company. The Court of Appeals rejected this argument properly finding this clause delegates ministerial authority to execute documents only-not managerial authority. The Court of Appeals stated that to hold otherwise, would render Article V, (Management) superfluous. (Opinion at 28-29) (citing, Nishikawa v. U.S. Eagle High, LLC, 138 Wn.App. 841, 849, 158 P.3d 1265 (2007))

Recognizing the incongruity of their prior argument, Petitioners now agree that Article XIII, Section 1 relates only to the authority to sign. This "new interpretation" they say, removes the redundancy noted by the Court of Appeals and makes Article XIII consistent with (and not superfluous to) their interpretation of the Management clause. This adds nothing to their position-it is also consistent with the Court of Appeals' interpretation.

7. Reasonableness.

In finding that unanimous consent to bind the LLC to a lease agreement was a more reasonable interpretation of the LLC Agreement, it is obvious that the Court of Appeals was mindful of the chaos that could follow if both members had the authority to enter into potentially inconsistent agreements. The Court of Appeals followed this Court's

directive to the letter, to avoid reading contracts in a manner that would produce absurd or unreasonable results. (Opinion at 26-27)

C. The Court of Appeals' Decision That Holman Was Entitled To Attorney Fees Does Not Conflict With Any Decision Of This Court.

Petitioners argue that the Court of Appeals' decision in "adjudicating" its holdover status contravenes this Court's opinion in Clark County v. Western Washington Growth Management Hearings Rev. Board, 177 Wn.2d 136, 139, 298 P.3d 704 (2013). In Clark, the question presented was whether the Court of Appeals erred when it sua sponte decided issues that were resolved at the trial court level and not appealed. This case presents completely different issues. Here, the Court of Appeals affirmed the trial court's ruling that the new lease was not valid due to Brady's lack of authority. (Opinion at 31) Yet, Mountain remains on the leased premises. Mountain is the very definition of a holdover tenant and no express "finding" by the trial court was required to establish that status. See e.g., 49 Am. Jur. 2d, Landlord and Tenant, §124 (a tenancy at sufferance arises when one who had rightful possession continues in possession after the right to possession has ended); RCW 59.04.050 ([w]henever any person obtains possession of premises without the consent of the owner or other person having the right to give said possession, he or she shall be deemed a tenant by sufferance...)

Article XXII of the Original Lease expressly provides that if Mountain remains in possession after termination, the tenancy is month-to-month with monthly rent established in the lease. It also specifically provided that the tenancy is subject to all other terms of the lease, which of course includes attorney fees pursuant to Article XXIV. (CP 59-61) see also, Marsh-McLennan Building, Inc. v. Clapp, 96 Wn.App. 636, 646-647, 980 P.2d 311 (1999) (attorney fee provision of expired lease applies to holdover tenant). The Court of Appeals' opinion is in accord with, not in conflict with any opinion of this Court.

Petitioners' argument that a question exists as to whether Holman is the prevailing party is similarly without merit. Whether Respondent's claims are denominated as Counts 1 or 2, they arrive out of the same core of facts, enforcement of the Original lease and not the "new" lease. Accord, Riss v. Angel, 131 Wn.2d. 612, 633-635, 934 P.2d 669 (1997) (plaintiffs who were unsuccessful on claim to hold covenants invalid nevertheless "prevailed" where court found covenants violated because plaintiffs still got to build their house.) Petitioners' final argument that the amount of fees should be segregated was raised in the Court of Appeals and has not yet been ruled upon. (Appellants' Objection to Respondent's Cost Bill; Respondent's Reply to Appellants' Objection). It therefore does not provide a basis for discretionary review.

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